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Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Electrical
Industrial Co.: Interpreting the
Antidumping Act of 1916
By PHILLIPS B. KELLER
Member of the Class of 1983

On April 14, 1980, one of the largest pieces of litigation ever heard

by the United States courts ground a step closer to completion. In a
fifty-one page opinion by Judge Edward Becker, the United States District Court for Eastern Pennsylvania granted virtually in its entirety a
motion for summary judgment brought by the defendants in Zenith Radio Corp. v. MatsushitaElectric IndustrialCo. ' The decision involved

claims by two domestic manufacturers under the Antidumping Act of
1916,2 a little-used remedial provision designed to protect United States
industries from predatory price discrimination undertaken by foreign
firms. The plaintiffs, Zenith Radio Corporation (hereinafter Zenith)

and National Union Electric Corporation (NUE), had charged a large
group of foreign manufacturers 3 with participation in a twenty-yearold conspiracy to sell Japanese-built consumer electronic products
(CEPs) on the United States market at artificially low prices, with the
intent of destroying the domestic electronics industry.4 The principal
1. Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. 1190 (E.D. Pa.
1980), appeal docketed, No. 80-2080 (3d Cir. May 8, 1980). Judge Becker described the
litigation as being "one of the most massive cases ever heard by the United States courts."
Id at 1194. In a separate decision rendered the same day as the one dismissing the plaintiffs' Antidumping Act claims, Judge Becker noted that document production in the entire
Zenith litigation "has run to twenty million documents.. ." and that over 100,000 pages of
depositions had been taken. Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matshushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F.
Supp. 1161, 1167 (E.D. Pa. 1980).
2. 15 U.S.C. § 72 (1976).
3. The principal defendants are Mitsubishi Corporation, Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co.,
Ltd., Toshiba Corporation, Hitachi, Ltd., Sharp Corporation, Mitsubishi Electric Corporation (MELCO), Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd., and Sony Corporation, as well as two United
States companies, Motorola, Inc., and Sears, Roebuck & Co. Fourteen other named defendants are subsidiaries of the principal Japanese defendants. Of the 24 defendants, 15 are
defendants in both suits, seven in the Zenith action alone, and two in the NUE suit alone.
See Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Corp., 494 F. Supp. 1190, 1194 n.2.
4. id at 1194.
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products involved in the plaintiffs' complaints were television receivers,
although Zenith also alleged the actionable dumping of radios, phonographs, and tape and cassette recorders.5 In dismissing the plaintiffs'
complaints as to all but a small portion of these products, the district
court held that minor technical differences between CEPs manufactured for use in Japan and in the United States prevented these products from being comparable 6for purposes of establishing discriminatory
pricing under the 1916 Act.
The prevention of dumping has become an issue of growing importance in the international marketplace. 7 As the scope of the problem
increases, so does the significance of the Antidumping Act, which provides the only private damage remedy specifically addressing this problem.' This Note will analyze the district court's decision in the Zenith
case, criticize it for being contrary to Congress intent, and recommend
that the decision be reversed on appeal.
I. THE STATUTORY BACKGROUND
Dumping, the practice of selling goods abroad more cheaply than
they are sold at home,9 has been called a form of "price discrimination
between purchasers in different national markets."' 0 From a generic
standpoint, dumping is analogous to domestic price discrimination and
poses many of the same issues. Thus, on the negative side, predatory
dumping may result in serious economic dislocations within the target
industry, such as unemployment and the loss of capital investments;"I if
successful, it may also eventually lead to the elimination of competition
and a resultant increase in consumer prices.'" On the other hand, certain forms of dumping are arguably benign in their effects. For example, sporadic dumping, which accompanies periods of unanticipated
overproduction, poses little long-term danger to domestic industries
5. Id at 1210.
6. Id at 1241-42. The only products to survive the defendants' motion were certain
battery-operated phonographs, recording devices, and AM radios. Id at 1242. The court
acknowledged that it was unsure whether there even were "any products in this residual
category.
...
Id n.63.
7. See infra text accompanying notes 60-66.
8. For a discussion of administrative remedies to the problem of dumping, see ityfra
text accompanying notes 42-57.
9. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 451 (5th ed. 1979).
10. J. VINER, DUMPING: A PROBLEM IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE 4 (1923 reprinted cd.
1966). This was the definition adopted by the district court. 494 F. Supp. at 1213,
11. Fisher, Dumping- Confrontingthe Paradoxof Internal Weakness andExternal Challenge, in ANTIDUMPING LAW: POLICY AND IMPLEMENTATION 12 (1979).
12. Id at 13.
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and produces
salutary short-term effects in the consumer
13
marketplace.
The Antidumping Act of 191614 was passed by Congress shortly
before the United States entry into World War I. The Act was apparently born out of a desire to protect domestic manufacturers from an
anticipated wave of unfair competition following the cessation of hostilities. 15 The Antidumping Act is similar to domestic antitrust statutes
in that it provides for a private treble damage remedy16 and imposes
13. See id Fisher distinguishes three kinds of dumping: sporadic, intermittent, and
continuous. While sporadic dumping is a relatively benign phenomenon, intermittent
dumping is a predatory trade practice that occurs when a foreign manufacturer "tries to
establish a foothold by selling for brief periods at prices less than fair value. After the foreign competitor is eliminated, the dumper may then raise his prices to the detriment of
consumers." Id
Continuous dumping differs from both the sporadic and the intermittent kind, Fisher
argues, because it transpires over a longer period of time and is generally assisted either by
overt governmental subsidies or by "trade barriers to reentry of the dumped or similar
goods." Id at 13-14. Continuous dumping, Fisher suggests, is usually a reflection of an
internal weakness in the economy of the dumping nation, such as an imbalance of trade or
the political need to continue an unprofitable enterprise. Id
14. 15 U.S.C. § 72 (1976). The text of the Antidumping Act of 1916 reads as follows.
It shall be unlawful for any person importing or assisting in importing any
articles from any foreign country into the United States, commonly and systematically to import, sell or cause to be imported or sold such articles within the United
States at a price substantially less than the actual market value or wholesale price
of such articles, at the time of exportation to the United States, in the principal
markets of the country of their production, or of other foreign countries to which
they are commonly exported after adding to such market value or wholesale price,
freight, duty, and other charges and expenses necessarily incident to the importation and sale thereof in the United States: Provided,That such act or acts be done
with the intent of destroying or injuring an industry in the United States, or of
preventing the establishment of an industry in the United States, or of restraining
or monopolizing any part of trade and commerce in such articles in the United
States.
Any person who violates or combines or conspires with any other person to
violate this section is guilty of a misdemeanor, and, on conviction thereof, shall be
punished by a fine not exceeding S5,000, or imprisonment not exceeding one year,
or both, in the discretion of the court.
Any person injured in his business or property by reason of any violation of,
or combination or conspiracy to violate, this section, may sue therefor in the district court of the United States for the district in which the defendant resides or is
found or has an agent, without respect to the amount in controversy, and shall
recover threefold the damages sustained, and the cost of the suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.
The foregoing provisions shall not be construed to deprive the proper State
courts of jurisdiction in actions for damages thereunder.
15. For a discussion of the history of the Antidumping Act, see lofra text accompanying
notes 74-88.
16. 15 U.S.C. § 72 (1976). See supra note 14.
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criminal sanctions for its violation." In order to establish the existence
of discriminatory sales, the Act requires the court to undertake a comparison of the prices at which goods have actually been offered to purchasers in the United States and in the relevant overseas markets.' 8
As noted by the district court, "The observation that the Antidumping Act of 1916 has not played a prominent role in. ..American jurisprudence is an egregious understatement."' 9 Although the
constitutionality of the 1916 Act was upheld in an earlier phase of the
Zenith litigation, prior to 1970 the Act had been mentioned in only
one reported decision, and that was settled by stipulation prior to a trial
on the merits.2 During the 1970's, the Antidumping Act was the subject of three pieces of litigation in addition to the Zenith case, but none
of these considered the issue confronting the district court-the degree
of product similarity required in order to invoke the Act's sanctions. 22
The Zenith litigation thus presented an issue of first impression.
II. THE HISTORY OF THE ZENITH CASE
The litigation that is the subject of this Note began in 1970 when
NUE, one of the pioneers of the television industry, filed suit under the
Antidumping Act of 1916, alleging that a consortium of Japanese manufacturers had conspired to take over the United States television industry by flooding the domestic marketplace with a wave of artificially
low-priced foreign imports.23 In 1974, Zenith filed a complaint making
17. Id
18. Id
19. 494 F. Supp. at 1211.
20. Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 402 F. Supp. 251, 259-61 (E.D.
Pa. 1975).
21. H. Wagner & Adler Co. v. Mali, 74 F.2d 666 (2d Cir. 1935). See 494 F. Supp. at
1211-12. There have apparently been four unsuccessful attempts to invoke the criminal provisions of the 1916 Act, but none of these has given rise to a reported decision. (d
22. In Bywater v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 1971 Trade Cas. (CCH) 1 73,759
(S.D.N.Y. 1971), and in Schwinner v. Sony Corp. of America, 1979-1 Trade Cas. (CCH) 1
62,632 (E.D.N.Y. 1979), the courts granted summary judgment for the defendants on the
question of standing. And in Outboard Marine Corp. v. Pezetel, 461 F. Supp. 384, 408-09
(D. Del. 1978), it was held that the Antidumping Act has no application where goods are
manufactured solely for importation to the United States and are not sold either in the
country of production or in a third country. See 494 F. Supp. at 1212.
23. 494 F. Supp. at 1161, 1164. NUE ceased all production of television receivers in
early 1970. Id
In the appellants' brief to the Third Circuit, it is claimed that the average difference
between the defendants' Japanese and United States prices is $28.56 per monochrome telcvision receiver and $112.21 per color receiver. Brief for Appellant at 6-7, Zenith Radio Corp,
v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. 1190 (E.D. Pa. 1980), appeal docketed, No. 80-
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similar allegations.2 4 A year later, the two cases were consolidated for
pretrial proceedings and in 1979 the actions were consolidated for
trial. 5
Nearly a decade after filing of the original complaint, the defendants moved for summary judgment on the plaintiffs' Antidumping Act
claims, arguing principally that the phrase "such articles" in the text of
the 1916 Act requires the products sold in the United States and the
relevant foreign market to be physically identical.2 6 Alternatively, the
defendants contended, the goods under examination must meet the
"like grade and quality" standard of section 2 of the Clayton Act,
which preceded the Antidumping Act by two years. 7 Under either of
these standards, the defendants asserted, television receivers and other
consumer electronic products sold for use in Japan and in the United
States are not comparable.2 8
The district court rejected the defendants' primary argument on
several grounds, one of them being that the ordinary meaning of the
word "such" embraces a variety of nuances beyond strict identity. 9 Instead, the court held, in determining whether discriminatory sales have
taken place, the United States price of imported merchandise may be
compared with the "actual market value" of similar goods in the country of production."0 However, in defining what constitutes "similar"
merchandise, the court substantially adopted the defendants' second
2080 (3d Cir. May 8, 1980). These figures are based upon an analysis of over 58,000 transactions involving seven of the defendants. Id
24. 494 F. Supp. at 1161, 1164. In addition to their claims under the 1916 Act, both
plaintiffs also charged the defendants with violations of §§ 1 and 2 of the Sherman Antitrust
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-2 (1976), § 73 of the Wilson Tariff Act, 15 U.S.C. § 8 (1976), and the
price discrimination provisions of the Robinson-Patman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976). 494
F. Supp. at 1165. Zenith further charged Sears, Motorola, Sanyo, and Matsushita with a
violation of§ 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18 (1976), in connection with the two Japanese companies' acquisition of interests in domestic CEP manufacturers. 494 F. Supp. at
1165.
With the exception of the'1916 Antidumping Act claim discussed here, the remainder of
the plaintiffs' complaints were dismissed for lack of evidence of a conspiracy in Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 513 F. Supp. 1100, 1331-32 (FD. Pa. 1981). The
district court also certified its dismissal of these complaints for immediate appellate review.
513 F. Supp. at 1334.
25. 494 F. Supp. at 1161, 1164.
26. Id at 1196.
27. 38 Stat. 730 (1914). See 494 F. Supp. at 1196.
28. 494 F. Supp. at 1199-1200.
29. Id at 1228-29. For a discussion of the district court's apparent violation of this
maxim in construing the legislative history of the Antidumping Act, see infra text accompanying notes 148-52.
30. 494 F. Supp. at 1230.
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argument. For the purposes of the Antidumping Act, the court ruled,
similarity must be measured under the "like grade and quality" standard of section 2 of the Clayton Act (hereinafter Clayton 2) as
amended by the Robinson-Patman Act. 3t This standard, the court
held, requires that there be no substantial physical differences between
the goods involved in the two legs of the alleged discrimination which
would affect "consumer use, preference or marketability. ' 32 Alternatively, the products in question must meet the standard of similarity
evolved in customs appraisement decisions from 1928 to the present. 33
Under this analogous standard, the court concluded, two sets of products are not similar unless they are "commercially interchangeable. '34
In applying these rules to the circumstances of the Zenith case, the
district court focused upon certain undisputed physical differences between consumer electronic products manufactured for use in Japan and
in the United States. With reference to television receivers, the principal subject of the plaintiffs' complaints, the court acknowledged that
the two groups of products bear "extensive [technological] similarities,"35 in addition to "look[ing] essentially the same and serv[ing] precisely the same functions. ' 36 It attached decisive importance, however,
to the fact that television receivers used in Japan are built to receive
different broadcast frequencies and to operate upon different power
supplies than those employed in the United States. 37 The effect of these
differences-which the court characterized as being "merely adaptations to the technical conventions . . . in the two countries" 3 8-is to
31. See id at 1232. For a detailed summary of the court's reasoning, see infra text
accompanying notes 74-109.
32. 494 F. Supp. at 1233.
33. Id at 1216-17, 1226-27, 1234-39. For a detailed summary of the court's reasoning,
see infra text accompanying notes 110-41.
34. 494 F. Supp. at 1239.
35. Id at 1204.
36. Id at 1195.
37. Id at 1240-41. The receivers' use of different power transformers stems from the
fact that electric current is supplied at 120 volts in the United States and at 100 volts in
Japan. Id at 1206. Because of this'difference, the court concluded, "Japanese television
receivers used in the U.S. would be in serious danger of failing because of overheating ....
Id
. at 1196. Similarly, the difference in receiving capabilities means that Japanese television sets "could not receive most VHF television broadcasts in the United States,
and vice versa. . . ." Id at 1206.
38. Id at 1207. The court commented that the differences are "closely analogous to the
differences necessitated by the use of the metric system in many countries, and of the traditional units in the United States, or by the use of right-hand-drive automobiles in some
countries and of left-hand-drive vehicles in the United States." .d There was extensive
expert testimony that the differences were "insignificant" from a technological standpoint
and in terms of production cost. Id at 1206. One of the plaintiffs' expert witnesses even
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make television sets "manufactured for sale in one nation.
of no
practical use to a consumer in the other nation."3 9 Similar differences,
the court observed, also render non-television CEPs designed for use in
one country "unmarketable" in the other.4 Since equivalence of use
and marketability had previously been found to be the hallmarks of
product similarity, the court accordingly concluded that CEPs sold for
use in Japan and those sold for use in the United States are not comparable for purposes of the 1916 Antidumping Act.4 '

I.
A.

THE IMPACT OF THE DISTRICT COURTS
RULING

A Divergence Between Private and Administrative
Antidumping Actions
As noted above,42 the Antidumping Act of 1916 provides the only

private damage remedy specifically addressing the problem of international price discrimination. 43 As such, the Act offers a significant alternative to domestic manufacturers unwilling to pursue existing
went so far as to call the two sets of receivers "practically identical in substantially all material technological respects." Id at 1206-07 n.22.
39. Id at 1197.
40. Id at 1211. All nontelevision CEPs manufactured for use in this country, which are
not solely battery-operated, would operate on different power supplies than those employed
in Japan, the court observed. Id at 1210-11. In addition, the court noted that even batteryoperated FM radios would be unmarketable because they are adjusted, like television sets,
to receive different broadcast frequencies in the two countries. Id at 1211.
41. Id at 1241. From the fact that consumer electronic products manufactured for export to the United States would be of no practical use to domestic buyers in Japan, the court
also concluded that the CEPs sold in the United States would not be commercially interchangeable with CEPs sold in Japan. Id
The district court certified the following question for interlocutory appeal to the Third
Circuit:
Are consumer electronic products manufactured for use in the United States
and those manufactured for use in Japan comparable in a proceeding under the
Antidumping Act of 1916... even though (1) the products are adapted to the
technical conventions of television and FM radio broadcasting, and of the transmission of electrical power, which differ as between the two countries; (2) accordingly, the products have different tuners, power transformers, and electric motors;
and (3) as a result, the products differ in consumer use and marketability and are
not commercially interchangeable?
Id at 1245. The Court of Appeals is expected to render its decision in early 1983.
42. See supra text accompanying note 8.
43. Although the Robinson-Patman Act also addresses the problem of price discrimination, the Act was held to be inapplicable to the problem of foreign dumping in an earlier
phase of the Zenith litigation. Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 402 F.
Supp. 244, 248 (E.D. Pa. 1975).
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administrative remedies to the problem of dumping." The construction
adopted by the district court, however, imposes impediments on this
private right of action which are not found in the alternative governmental procedures. The practical effect of the court's holding is thus to
create an anomalous divergence between private and governmental
measures for coping with the same problem.
Until 1979, the primary administrative weapon against predatory
price discrimination by foreign firms was the Antidumping Act of
1921. 41 This law was enacted after Congress had reached the conclusion that the 1916 Act was an ineffective deterrent to dumping.46 The
1921 Act authorized the assessment of a special dumping duty on merchandise which the Secretary of the Treasury determined was being
sold in the United States at less than its fair market value.47 Unlike the
1916 Act, however, the 1921 Act did not provide
for private damages or
48
impose criminal sanctions for its violation.
In determining whether a finding of dumping was warranted
under the 1921 Act, the Secretary of the Treasury was permitted to
compare the domestic price of imported goods with the value of similar
articles in the country of production. 9 In making this comparison,
however, the Secretary was not restricted to products which were commercially interchangeable with the goods under investigation, or identical in consumer use. Rather, the 1921 Act granted the Secretary broad
discretion to examine the value of "reasonably" comparable products
belonging to the "same general class" as the articles in question. 50 As
noted by the district court, this was a "much more expansive charter"
than that found in its construction of the 1916 Antidumping Act.51
44. For a discussion of these remedies, see infra text accompanying notes 45-57.
45. 19 U.S.C. §§ 160-171 (repealed 1979).
46. See 494 F. Supp. at 1224. The principal obstacle to enforcement of the 1916 statute,
Congress believed, was the difficulty of satisfying its intent clause. Id
47. 19 U.S.C. §§ 160(a), 161 (repealed 1979).
48. Id at §§ 160-171.
49. Id at § 170a(3).
50. Id (emphasis added). This definition of "similar merchandise" was enacted in 1958
as part of a series of amendments to the 1921 Antidumping Act. Antidumping Act of 1921,
Pub. L. No. 85-630, § 212, 72 Stat. 583, 586 (1958) (codified as amended at 19 U.S.C. § 170a
(1976)). The genesis of the 1958 amendment was a conclusion by the Treasury Department
that court decisions interpreting "similar" to mean "commercially interchangeable" had
substantially reduced the effectiveness of the 1921 Act. See An Act to Amend Certain Prosions of the Antidumping Act of 1921: Hearings on H. . 6006 Be/ore the Senate Comn. on
Finance, 85th Cong., 2d Sess. 22 (1958) (statement of A. Gilmore Flues, Assistant Secrctary
of the Treasury).
51. 494 F. Supp. at 1225. The district court rejected the plaintiffs' contention that the
flexible comparability standard of the 1921 Act should be imputed to the 1916 Act as well.
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Ironically, the very Japanese television receivers involved in the Zenith
litigation were the subject of a successful dumping investigation in 1970
under the provisions of the 1921 Act.s 2
The Antidumping Act of 1921 was recently repealed by the Trade
Agreements Act of 1979.13 The new law, however, contains its own
antidumping provisions, which were modelled in large part upon those
of the 1921 Act.54 In particular, the 1979 Act retains the earlier law's
broad definition of "similar" merchandise. 55 Moreover, it also provides that findings of dumping made under the 1921 Act are to con56
tinue to be given effect by customs appraisement officials.
The district court's narrow construction of the 1916 Act is thus
squarely at odds with the United States' principal administrative
weapon governing dumping. Application of the two laws to identical
products has produced directly conflicting results. 57 Moreover, the
court's interpretation is also out of step with the current state of international antidumping law. In the absence of sales of similar products
in the home market, for example, the Antidumping Code of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) permits findings of price
discrimination to be based upon comparison with an article's cost of
production, after reasonable allowances for overhead and profit. 58
Similar flexible comparison standards are incorporated into the antidumping provisions of Australia, Canada, New Zealand, the Republic of South Africa, Sweden, and the European Economic
Community.5 9 If the construction adopted by the district court is corThe court justified this refusal on the ground that "[w]hen Congress enacted the 1958
amendment defining the phrase 'such or similar merchandise' expansively for purposes of
the 1921 Act, it did not amend the 1916 Act. . .although it might have done so:" 1d
52. See Television Receiving Sets, Monochrome and Color, From Japan, Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value, 35 Fed. Reg. 18,549 (1970).
53. 19 U.S.C. §§ 2501-2582 (1979).
54. See S. REp. No. 249, 96th Cong., 1st Sess. 15-16 (1979). The antidumping provisions of the 1979 Act are codified at 19 U.S.C. §§ 1673-1677 (1979).
55. 19 U.S.C. § 1677(16) (1979).
56. Id at § 160 (repealed 1979).
57. See supra note 52 and accompanying text.
58. Agreement on the Implementation of Article VI of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, June 30, 1967, art. 2, 19 U.S.T. 4348, T.I.A.S. No. 6431 (effective July 1,
1968). The GATT Antidumping Code has been signed by 23 nations in addition to the
United States, including Japan and most members of the Common Market. See Basic Instruments and Selected Documents, 23 Supp. 13 (1977).
59. Fisher, supra note 11, at 273-98. In addition, both the 1921 Antidumping Act and
the 1979 Trade Agreements Act permit comparison with the imported article's cost of production. See 19 U.S.C. § 170 (repealed 1979) and § 1677. The district court did not consider this possibility.
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rect, one must apparently impute to the framers of the 1916 Act a remedial approach diverging from that of virtually every other legislative
body to have considered the problem of dumping.
B. The Economic Consequences of the District Court's Ruling
Dumping is perhaps the most significant economic problem facing
the United States in the world marketplace today. 60 It is a major contributor to a national trade deficit which reached $39.7 billion in
1981.61 In that year alone, the Department of Labor certified 28,000
domestic workers as eligible for relief because of jobs eliminated by
import sales.62 The impact of dumping in terms of lost domestic sales
revenue is enormous. A study commissioned by the United States steel
industry, for example, indicates that during the two-year period from
1976 through 1977, domestic manufacturers lost more than $1 billion in
revenue to below-cost sales of European and Japanese steel.63
In the past seventeen years, the Treasury Department has conducted over 100 dumping investigations under the provisions of the
1921 Antidumping Act and its successor, the 1979 Trade Agreements
Act.' More than seventy-five of these cases have resulted in findings
that the imported merchandise was being sold domestically at less than
its fair market value. 65 Among the products against which successful
claims have been brought are amplifiers, speedometers, capacitors, iron
pipe fittings, dry cleaning machinery, golf carts, pig iron, water pumps,
steel rods and bars, television sets,
railway equipment, roller bearings,
66
power transformers, and turners.
Although it is difficult to quantify the impact that the district
court's holding will have on private antidumping actions, adherence to
the court's narrow comparability standard would apparently preclude
application of the 1916 Act to many of the very products against which
dumping findings have actually been made under the provisions of the
1921 Act. In the Zenith case, the court found that the use of different
power transformers in foreign and domestic products rendered the Act
inapplicable. 67 Since power is supplied at different voltages in Japan,
60.
1982, §
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.

Doan, U.S. on the Line in Global Trade War, San Francisco Chronicle, March 17,
F (Briefing), at 1, col. 1.
Id
Id
Fisher, supra note 11, at 18.
Id at 264-71 (digest of United States cases).
Id
Id
See supra text accompanying notes 37-41.
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Europe, and the United States,6" the district court's reasoning would

effectively exclude from the scope of the Act almost all electronic prod69
ucts-whether Japanese or European--that are not battery-operated.

The court also analogized the relevant differences in power supplies to
differences "necessitated by the use of the metric system in many countries, and of the traditional units in the United States, or by the use of
right-hand-drive automobiles in some countries and of left-hand-drive

vehicles in the United States." 7 Since most fabricated metal products
are manufactured in metric units for European and Japanese consumption, and in customary units for export ;o the United States,7 1 the

court's comparability standard would also exempt a substantial portion
of imported steel, iron, and aluminum from the scrutiny of the 1916
Act. Finally, since motor vehicles sold in Britain, Ireland, and Japan
feature right- as opposed to left-hand drive,7 2 the court's reasoning

would appear to make the Act inapplicable to all exports by automobile manufacturers in those countries.
It is clear, then, that the district court's construction would result
in a substantial evisceration of the 1916 Antidumping Act. While the
product comparability standard adopted by the court may be appropriate within the confines of the largely homogeneous domestic market, its
application within the more diversified arena of international commerce produces nearly absurd results. Thus, the theoretical anomaly of
the court's holding appears to be matched on a prosaic level by its
impracticability.
IV. THE DISTRICT COURTS REASONING
Despite the restrictive nature of the Zenith holding, there would be
68. Electrical currents are transmitted at 120 volts in the United States and at 100 volts
in Japan. See supra note 37. In Europe, the prevailing standard is 220 volts. Telephone
interview with Dr. Horace J. De Podwin, Chairman, Graduate Department of Management,
The State University of New Jersey (Rutgers) (June 22, 1982).
69. According to one authority, the technical differences considered relevant by the
Zenith court would prevent application of the 1916 Act to "most machinery" presently being
imported into the United States. Telephone interview with Dr. Horace J. De Podwin, Chairman, Graduate Department of Management, The State University of New Jersey (Rutgers)
(June 22, 1982). The size of this class is naturally enormous. In addition to the TV and
audio components that figured in the Zenith case, it would apparently include products
ranging all the way from household appliances and power tools to data processing equipment and industrial machinery.
70. 494 F. Supp. at 1207.
71. Telephone interview with Dr. Horace J. De Podwin, Chairman, Graduate Department of Management, The State University of New Jersey (Rutgers) (June 22, 1982).
72. Id
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little ground for criticism of the decision if the construction grafted
onto the 1916 Act were clearly the one intended by Congress.73 It is the
contention of this Note that this is not the case. The district court was
not logically compelled, by either sound construction or available manifestations of congressional intent, to adopt the conclusion which it did.
Before proceeding to a critical examination of the court's analysis,
however, a more thorough presentation of its reasoning must be
undertaken.
A. An Extension of Domestic Price Discrimination Law
The Antidumping Act was approved by Congress on September 8,
1916, near the end of President Woodrow Wilson's first term.74 At the
time of the Act's passage, the Democratic majority in both houses of
Congress had recently moved to strengthen the domestic antitrust7
76
laws." The Federal Trade Commission Act and the Clayton Act
were both passed in 1914 as part of a congressional effort to remedy
perceived inadequacies in the structure and enforcement of the Sherman Act.78 Section 2 of the Clayton Act79 addressed the practice of
73. "In dealing with problems of interpretation and application of federal statutes, we
have no power to change deliberate choices of legislative policy that Congress has made
within its constitutional powers. Where congressional intent is discernible. . . we must give
effect to that intent." Sinclair Ref. Co. v. Atkinson, 370 U.S. 195, 215 (1962).
74. 494 F. Supp. at 1217.
75. Congressional Quarterly, Inc., Guide to Congress 182-A (2d ed. 1976), cited it
Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1217.
76. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-61 (1976).
77. 15 U.S.C. §§ 12-27 (1976).
78. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-7 (1976). During the first 10 years of its life, the Sherman Act was
hamstrung by narrow judicial interpretations on the one hand and by quixotic enforcement
on the other. E. GELLHORN, ANTITRUST LAW AND ECONOMICS 24-27 (1981). The specific
catalyst of the frustration that culminated in 1914's flurry of legislation, however, was the
Supreme Court's decision in Standard Oil v. United States, 221 U.S. 1 (1911). The Court's
announcement that trade restraints would be held illegal only if they were unreasonably
anticompetitive left many congressional critics convinced that the Sherman Act's effectiveness as a weapon against monopolies had been severely impaired. E. GELLHORN, sUptra at
27. This dissatisfaction was reflected in the Democratic Party's platform of 1912, which
called for "the enactment of legislation which will restore to the [Sherman Act] the strength
of which it has been deprived.. . ." NATIONAL PARTY PLATFORMS, 1840-1956, at 169 (K.
Parker and D. Johnson eds. 1956), quotedin Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus.
Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1217.
79. Section 2 of the Clayton Act provides as follows:
Sec. 2. That it shall be unlawful for any person engaged in commerce, in the
course of such commerce, either directly or indirectly to discriminate in price between different purchasers of commodities . . . which commodities are sold for
use, consumption, or resale within the United State or any Territory thereof or the
District of Columbia or any insular possession or other place under the jurisdiction
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price discrimination, which was then felt to play a major role in the

development of monopolies."s Clayton 2, however, was intended to apply only to the problem of domestic price discrimination; 8' the related
problem of international price discrimination, or dumping, was left
unresolved.
Although dumping was not among the trade practices addressed
by the flurry of antitrust legislation in 1914, it nevertheless cast an ominous shadow over the economic terrain of the period. The immediate
consequence of the hostilities in Europe was a boom in domestic export
trade brought about by the elimination of competition from foreign industries.8 2 Despite the resultant prosperity, there was widespread fear
that the end of the war would bring with it a wave of unfair competi3
tion from European industries attempting to revitalize themselves.1
This fear of potentially predatory competition affected the legislators of
both parties and reached the inner circles of the Wilson administration
as well.84
of the United States, where the effect of such discrimination may be to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line of commerce:
Provided,That nothing herein contained shall prevent discrimination in price between purchasers of commodities on account of differences in the grade, quality, or
quantity of the commodity sold, or that makes only due allowance for difference in
the cost of selling or transportation, or discrimination in price in the same or different communities made in good faith to meet competition. Andprovidedfurther,
That nothing herein contained shall prevent persons engaged in selling goods,
wares, or merchandise in commerce from selecting their own customers in bona
fide transactions and not in restraint of trade.
Pub. L. No. 94-435, 38 Stat. 730 (1914).
80. See H.R. REP. No. 627, Pt. 1, 63d Cong., 2d Sess. 8-9 (1914), citedin Zenith Radio
Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1217.
81. See Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd., 402 F. Supp. 244
(E.D. Pa. 1975).
82. F. TAUssIG, THE TARIFF HISTORY OF THE UNITED STATES 448-49 (1931 reprinted

ed. 1967), citedin Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1219
n.42.
83. Secretary of Commerce William Redfield's annual report for 1915 noted:
When the war shall close, the public control of railways in foreign lands, the semiofficial chambers of commerce, the publicly fostered organizations which control
great industries in some countries, will all exist and will all be used in an effort to
recover lost commerce. The growth in the United States of industries which may
menace large markets heretofore controlled from abroad will not be permitted if
public and semipublic forces acting together in foreign countries can prevent it.
The outreach of American industries, nay their very existence in our own land in
some cases, will be resisted to the full and every stratagem of industrial war will be
exerted against them.
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SECRETARY OF COMMERCE 43 (1915), quoted in Zenith Radio
Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1219.
84. 494 F. Supp. at 1219.
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In 1912, the members of the Democratic majority in Congress had
run on a platform opposing the use of protective tariffs to insulate domestic industries from unfair foreign competition. 5 In conformity
with that position, Democratic legislators and members of the Wilson
administration proposed to cope with the problem of dumping "by a
method other than tariffs, classing it

. .

.as an offense similar to the

unfair domestic competition we now forbid. 8 6 Commerce Secretary
William Redfield's annual report for 1915 recommended
[t]hat legislation supplemental to the Clayton Antitrust Act be enacted which shall make it unlawful to sell or purchase articles of foreign origin or manufacture where the prices to be paid are materially
below the current rates for such articles in the country of production
or from which shipment is made, in case such prices substantially
lessen competition on the part of the American producers or tend to
create a monopoly in American markets in favor of the foreign
producer.
87

This proposal was apparently the genesis of the Antidumping Act of
1916.8
The historical background of the Antidumping Act-its roots in a
strongly antimonopolistic, antiprotectionist legislative environmentled the Zenith court to conclude that the Act was part of the fabric of
the domestic antitrust laws.89 The functional relationship between the
Antidumping Act and the corpus of domestic antitrust laws is reinforced by a number of structural similarities. As noted by the district
court, 90 for example, the standing and damages provisions of the Act
are essentially the same as those incorporated into the domestic antitrust laws by section 4 of the Clayton Act. 9 ' Furthermore, the 1916
Act's provision for criminal penalties is virtually identical to the corresponding clauses of the Sherman Act in effect at the time.92 Finally,
the intent clause of the Antidumping Act is framed in the language of
85. See NATIONAL PARTY PLATFORMS, 1840-1956, supra note 78, at 169, citedin Zenith
Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1217-18.
86. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE SECRETARY OF COMMERCE, supra note 83, quoted In

Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1220.
87. Id
88. J. VINER, supra note 10, at 242-43, cited'n Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec.
Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1220.
89. 494 F. Supp. at 1220. The court stated: "We thus have seen that the political and
legal history of the era supports our conclusion from the statutory text that the 1916 Act was
an antitrust based unfair competition law, not a protectionist one."
90. Id at 1214-15.
91. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1914).
92. 26 Stat. 209 (1890).
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antitrust law, prohibiting price discrimination by foreign manufacturers only when undertaken with the intent, inter alia, of "restrainingor

monopolizing any
part of trade and commerce in such articles in the
93
United States."

By themselves, however, the historical and structural similarities
between the 1916 Antidumping Act and the contemporaneous domestic

antitrust laws do not lead logically to the conclusion that the former
must be construed in every instance to parallel the latter, nor do such

similarities lead to this conclusion by force of analogy. International
commerce, as seen earlier,94 is not characterized by the same degree of
market homogeneity that is found in interstate trade. Accordingly, le-

gal concepts meaningful within the context of the domestic marketplace, such as product interchangeability, may lose their relevance
when transplanted into the more diversified environment of the international market. The district court was apparently aware of this, but
concluded that the legislative history of the Antidumping Act left it no
other choice than to graft the product comparability standard of Clayton 2 onto the 1916 statute.95 Of decisive importance to the court were
two brief statements, one contained in a report of the House Committee
on Ways and Means and the other made by Representative Claude

Kitchen (Democrat, North Carolina) on the floor of the House of Representatives. The committee report recommended adoption of the An-

tidumping Act in order that importers "may be placed in the same
position as our [domestic) manufacturers with reference to unfair com93. 15 U.S.C. § 72 (1976) (emphasis added). For the complete text of the Antidumping
Act, see supra note 14.
94. See supra text accompanying notes 68-82.
95. 494 F. Supp. at 1242. The court apparently experienced some reservations about
the rigidity of its own analysis. Near the end of the decision it noted:
We have reflected long and hard on the issues which have been resolved in this
lengthy opinion. During those reflections we have conjured the image of an American industrialist or labor union official or public official, concerned about the
health of American industry, who possessed a TV set manufactured in Japan, and
who had just returned from a trade mission to Tokyo where, in his hotel room, he
had turned on a TV set made by the same manufacturer as his set at home, which
had a similar cabinet and an equally clear and bright picture. That individual
might well say, a la Gertrude Stein: a TV set is a TV set is a TV set. He or she
might think that we should not construct a chain of analysis which absolves the
Japanese TV manufacturers, who have in the decades of the 1960's and '70's made
such inroads into the U.S. market, from the asserted consequences thereof. We felt
some initial discomfiture over this putative lay reaction, but the discomfiture
quickly abated when we focused on. . .considerations. . . which have been advanced at length in this opinion. '
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petition."96 Representative Kitchen, the sponsor of the Revenue Act,
explained to the full House that "[w]e believe

. . .

the same unfair

competition law which now applies to the domestic trader should apply
to the foreign import trader [as well]." 97 Noting that statements in a
congressional committee report or by the sponsor of legislation are entitled to a high degree of exegetical value, 98 the district court concluded
that the Antidumping Act was intended to incorporate an identical
product
similarity requirement as that already embodied in Clayton
99
2.

In determining the degree of product similarity required by this
standard, the court relied heavily upon recent interpretations of the
price discrimination provision of the Robinson-Patman Act. t°° Under
Clayton 2 it had been an affirmative defense that price differentials
were based upon "differences in the grade [or] quality.

. .

of the com-

modity sold."'' In 1936, Clayton 2 was amended by section 2(a) of the
Robinson-Patman Act,' 02 which shifted the burden of proving that the
alleged discrimination involved products of "like grade and quality" to
the plaintiff. 1 3 An analysis of the legislative history of the RobinsonPatman amendment, however, convinced the district court that Congress had not "intended to alter the substantive meaning of the terms
'grade' and 'quality"' as used in Clayton 2.'0 4 Accordingly, the court
reasoned, judicial interpretations of the "like grade and quality" proviso of the Robinson-Patman Act must also define the standard of
96. See H.R. REP. No. 922, 64TH CONG., IST SESS. 9 (1916) (emphasis added) quotedin
Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1222.
97. 53 CONG. REC. APP. 1938 (1916) (emphasis added), quotedin Zenith Radio Corp. v.
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1222.
98. 494 F. Supp. at 1223.
99. Id at 1223, 1226-27, 1231.
100. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1936).
101. Pub. L. No. 63-212, 38 Stat. 730 (1914).
102. Robinson-Patman Act, ch. 592, 49 Stat. 1526 (1936) (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 13(a)),
103. The operative language of Section 2(a) of the Robinson-Patman Act is as follows:
(a) [I]t shall be unlawful for any person engaged in commerce. . . either directly or indirectly, to discriminate in price between different purchasers of commodities of like grade and quality. . . where the effect of such discrimination may
be substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line of
commerce, or to injure, destroy, or prevent competition with any person who either
grants or knowingly receives the benefit of such discrimination, or with customers
of either of them: Provided, that nothing herein contained shall prevent differentials which make only due allowance for differences in the cost of manufacture,
sale, or delivery resulting from the differing methods or quantities in which such
commodities are to such purchasers sold or delivered. . ..
Id
104. 494 F. Supp. at 1232.
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product similarity embodied in the 1916 Antidumping Act. 105

Under the weight of current authority, price differentials levied
within the domestic marketplace are not discriminatory "if there are

substantial physical differences in products affecting consumer use,
preference or marketability. . . regardless of manufacturing costs.""
It follows, the court continued, that consumer use, preference, and mar-

ketability-rather than manufacturing costs or generic equivalencealso represent the criteria by which product similarity is measured
under the 1916 Antidumping Act. 107 Since the court previously had

found that consumer electronic products manufactured for use in Japan and the United States differed in all three respects, 0 8 it was forced
to conclude that, despite overwhelming similarities, the two sets of

goods were not comparable for purposes of the 1916 Antidumping
Act 10 9

B.

Contemporaneous Customs Appraisement Terminology
Although the political roots of the Antidumping Act were imbed-

ded in the anti-monopolistic fervor of the Sixty-third Congress, por-

tions of the key language of the Act were derived from
contemporaneous customs appraisement laws. 110 As an alternative basis for its holding, the district court turned to an examination of this
language, tracing its evolution through a series of post-1916 revisions in

the appraisement statutes and its judicial construction in a line of customs decisions running from 1928 to the present."t '

In Paragraph R of the Tariff Act of 1913,'12 Congress had directed
105. Id
106. Id at 1233 (quoting Checker Motors Corp. v. Chrysler Corp., 283 F. Supp. 876, 889
(S.D.N.Y. 1968), a'd,405 F.2d 319 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 999 (1969)).
107. 494 F. Supp. at 1232-33.
108. See supra text accompanying notes 35-41.
109. 494 F. Supp. at 1241.
110. See infra text accompanying notes 112-14.
111. 494 F. Supp. at 1234-39.
112. Ch. 16,38 Stat. 189 (1913). Paragraph R of the 1913 Tariff Act provides in pertinent
part:
R. That whenever imported merchandise is subject to an ad valorem rate of
duty, or to a duty based upon or regulated in any manner by the value thereof, the
duty shall be assessed upon the actual market value or wholesale price thereof, at
the time of exportation to the United States, in the principal markets of the country
from whence exported; that such actual market value shall be held to be the price
at which such merchandise is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in said markets, in the usual wholesale quantities.. . . That the words "value," or "actual
market value," or "wholesale price," whenever used in this Act, or inany la, relating
to the appraisementof importedmerchandise,shallbe construedto be the actualmar-
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that customs duties levied on imported merchandise should be based
upon "the actual market value or wholesale price thereof, at the time of
exportation to the United States, in the principal markets of the country from whence exported."' "1 3 This language-with only a single, minor exception-was subsequently incorporated into the statutory text of
the 1916 Antidumping Act." 4 "Actual market value" was defined by
the 1913 Tariff Act to mean the price at which merchandise identical or
similar to the goods under appraisement was sold in the country of
origin." 5 The Act also specified that its definition of "actual market
value" was to apply whenever those words were used in a law "relating
to the appraisement of imported merchandise."' "16
The district court concluded that the Antidumping Act was such a
law, and that accordingly it incorporated by reference the 1913 Tariff
Act's definition of "actual market value.""' 7 In reaching this conclusion, the court relied primarily upon the language of a subsequent revision in the customs laws." 8 In the Emergency Tariff Act of 1921,19
Congress expanded the 1913 Tariff Act's appraisement procedure by
adding a new standard for the evaluation of imported merchandise.
While the 1913 Act had made actual market value alone the primary
determinant of import duty, 20 the 1921 bill directed that customs duties were to be assessed on the basis of the actual market value or the
export value of imported merchandise, whichever was higher. 12
ket value or wholesale price of such, or similar merchandise comparable itvalue
therewith, as defned in this Act.
Id (emphasis added).
113. Id.
114. See supra note 14 (text of the 1916 Antidumping Act).
115. Ch. 16, 38 Stat. 189 (1913) (quoted in full supra note 109).
116. Id (emphasis added).
117. 494 F. Supp. at 1216.
118. Id
119. Ch. 14, 42 Stat. 15-16 (1921).
120. If the actual market value of imported merchandise could not be calculated under
Paragraph R, duties were to be assessed on the basis of cost of production or wholesale price
in the United States. Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at
1236 n.59 (citing Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. United States, 11 C.C.P.A. 351 (1922)).
121. Section 303(a), 42 Stat. 16 (1921). Section 302 of the Emergency Tariff Act defined
"export value" to mean
[t]he price, at the time of exportation. . . to the United States, at which such or
similar merchandise is sold or freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the principal markets of the country from which exported, in the usual wholesale quantities
and in the ordinary course of trade, for exportation to the United States. ...
Id at 15-16. "Actual market value," on the other hand, was intended to retain the meaning
given it by Paragraph R of the 1913 Tariff Act. Id at § 303(a). If neither an actual market
value nor an export value could be determined, import duties were to continue to be as-
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Section 303(a) of the new statute made this disjunctive standard
applicable to "any law of the United States in existence at the [present]
time.
relative to the appraisementof importedmerchandise. .." except, interalia, the 1916 Antidumping Act.' - The inclusion of the Antidumping Act among the exceptions mentioned in section 303(a), the
district court reasoned, "demonstrates that Congress considered the
1916 Act a law 'relative to the appraisement of imported merchandise'. .

. ."

It follows, the court concluded, that the 1913 Tariff

Act's definition of "actual market value" supplies the meaning of those
words as they appear in the 1916 Antidumping Act. 124
It has been seen that actual market value, under the terms of Paragraph R, could be established by reference to the price of similar merchandise in the country of production.'25 Accordingly, the district
court reasoned, judicial decisions construing the meaning of "similar"
under the 1913 Tariff Act also provide the standard governing product
comparisons under the 1916 Antidumping Act.' 26 Prior to 1922, however, the decisions of customs appraisers were exempt from judicial review, except in instances of fraud or jurisdictional defect.' 7 Although
customs decisions were subject to administrative review by the Board
of General Appraisers, there are only two reported decisions of the
Board construing the phrase "similar merchandise" in the 1913 Tariff
Act. 28 The district court, however, was not convinced that the analysis
in either of these decisions was helpful in illuminating
the extent of
29
differentiation permissible for "similar" products.
sessed on the basis of cost of production or the wholesale price in the United States. Zenith
Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Corp., 494 F. Supp. at 1236 n.59.
122. Pub. L. No. 67-10, 42 Stat. 16 (1921) (emphasis added).
123. 494 F. Supp. at 1216.
124. Id As an alternative justification for assimilating this key provision of the 1916 Act
into the language of the earlier statute, the district court noted that "[w]here words are employed in a statute which had at the time a well-known meaning at common law or in the
law of this country, they are presumed to have been used in that sense unless the context
compels to the contrary." Id (quoting Lorillard v. Pons, 434 U.S. 575, 583 (1978)).
125. See supra note 96 and accompanying text.
126. 494 F. Supp. at 1216, 1234.
127. See Tariff Act of 1913, 1 M, 38 Stat. 187 (1913); Customs Administration Act of
1890, Pub. L. No. 63-13 § 13, 26 Stat. 137 (1890), cited in Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita
Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1234.
128. See Photographic Dry Plates, C.R. 30586, aff'dmenz., C.R. 30870 (1921) and Blown
Glass Chimneys, C.R. 31289, aff'dmemn, C.R. 31459 (1921) & 31608 (1922). Both decisions
are reprinted in full in Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at
1235-36 nn.57 & 58.
129. In Photographic Dry Plates, C.R. 30586,qff'dreni, C.R. 30870 (1921) the General
Appraiser ruled that slight differences in size were not enough to make two otherwise identical products dissimilar. The opinion noted that to hold Paragraph R of the 1913 Tariff Act
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Beginning with the Tariff Act of 1922, however, Congress for the
first time made appraisement decisions subject to judicial review.' 30 It
has been seen that the Emergency Tariff Act of 1921 incorporated the

phrase "actual market value" as it had been used in the 1913 Tariff
Act.' Although "actual market value" was replaced in the 1922 Tariff
Act by the words "foreign value,"' 32 an examination of the text and
legislative history of the 1922 Act convinced the district court that Congress intended the latter phrase to carry over the statutory meaning of
inapplicable whenever "it could not be shown that merchandise in every minor detail the
same as that the subject of appraisement had been sold in the principal markets of the country of exportation would be simply to create chaos in the work of appraising officers," Ad
In Blown Glass Chimney, C.R. 31289, aff'dmem., C.R. 31459 (1921) & 31608 (1922),
the General Appraiser declared that street lamp chimneys which were straight were comparable for customs purposes to chimneys made with a bulge. The General Appraiser rested
his decision on the fact that "there is practically the same amount of glass, the same amount
of workmanship, and the same price for the straight as for the bulged glass." 'Id
130. Tariff Act of 1922, ch. 356, § 501, 42 Stat. 966 (1922).
131. See supra note 121 and accompanying text.
132. See Zenith Raido Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1236. The
operative language of the Tariff Act of 1922 reads as follows:
Sec. 402. VALUE.-(a) For the purposes of this Act the value of imported
merchandise shall be(1) The foreign value of the export value, whichever is higher;
(2) If neither the foreign value nor the export value can be ascertained to the
satisfaction of the appraising officers, then the United States value;
(3) If neither the foreign value, the export value, nor the United States value
can be ascertained to the satisfaction of the appraising officers, then the cost of
production;...
(b) The foreign value of imported merchandise shall be the market value or
the price at the time of exportation of such merchandise to the United States, at
which such or similar merchandise is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the
principal market of the country from which exported, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade ....
Pub. L. No. 67-318, 42 Stat. 949 (1922). In addition to noting that "foreign value" and
"actual market value" both occupy the same place in the overall appraisement hierarchy, the
court also commented on the obvious parallels in the definitions of the two phrases, including their incorporation of the term "similar merchandise." 404 F. Supp. at 1236 n.59. Coinpare the language of § 402(b) of the 1922 Tariff Act, supra, with the definition of "actual
market value" in Paragraph R of the Tariff Act of 1913, supra note 112; conpare also the
hierarchy of appraisement standards in the 1922 Act, supra, with that of the Emergency
Tariff Act of 1921, supra note 121.
The court's conclusion that "foreign value" corresponded to "actual market value" in
previous customs law was further reinforced by the following excerpt from the legislative
history of the 1922 Act: "the House bill provided for the 'American valuation plan'. . . The
Senate amendment strikes out this provision in the House bill and substitutes, with minor
changes, the foreign valuation system of existing law. . . . [T]he House recedes with an
amendment making clerical changes." H.R. REP. No. 1223, 67th Cong., 2d Sess, 148 (1922),
quoted in Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1237.
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the former. 133 Accordingly, the court concluded, decisions construing
the 1922 Act are applicable in determining the degree of product similarity required by the Tariff Act of 1913, and, ultimately, by the Antidumping Act of 1916.134
In United States v. Irving J Massin & Bros.,'" the Court of Customs Appeals announced that "if goods are made of approximately the
same materials, are commercially interchangeable, are adapted to substantially the same uses, and are so used, ordinarily, they are similar,
within the meaning of section 402(b) [of the 1922 Tariff Act].'" 36 In
another decision rendered that same year, the court adopted an identical approach, holding that products are similar, despite minor differences in price, construction, and materials, if 'for all utilitarian
purposes,one is a substituteforthe other."' 37 This requirement of commercial interchangeability has governed product comparisons3 in customs appraisement decisions from 1928 up until the present.
Since consumer electronic products manufactured for use in Japan
and the United States differ significantly in marketability, 39 it follows
that they are not commercially interchangeable. 40 Under the alternative standard derived from the 1913 Tariff Act, then, the district court
was forced to conclude that the products also failed to satisfy
the
4
threshold comparability requirement of the Antidumping Act.1 1
133. 494 F. Supp. at 1237-38.
134. Id
135. 16 C.C.P.A. 19 (1928).
136. Id at 25 (emphasis added).
137. United States v. Wecker & Co., 16 C.C.P.A. 220, 225 (1928) (emphasis added).
138. See Ci. Tower & Sons v. United States, 50 C.C.P.A. 76, 81 (1963); United States v.
Eggen, 55 C.C.P.A. 95, 101 (1968), cited in Zenith Radio Corp. v. Matsushita Eec. Indus.
Co., 494 F. Supp. at 1238-39.
Although the customs valuation system has been revised three times since passage of
the 1922 Act, the district court concluded that each of the subsequent modifications continued the meaning of the term "similar merchandise" as used in the 1922 Act. See 494 F.
Supp. at 1238 n.60. For the purposes of the present argument, these later changes in the
valuation system are irrelevant.
139. See supra text accompanying notes 35-41.
140. 494 F. Supp. at 1239. The court noted:
Thus even if all the differences between electronic products manufactured for
use in Japan and... in the United States are necessary to conform to the different
technical requirements of broadcasting and electrical power distribution in the two
countries, andeven if there are no other differences between the products, still they
are not similar under relevant law unless they are commercially interchangeable.
Id (emphasis added).
141. Id at 1241.
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ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S
ARGUMENT

The Antidumping Act's Relationship to Domestic Price
Discrimination Law

As noted above, 42 the legislative history of the Antidumping Act
was the decisive factor in the district court's adoption of the product
comparability standard of domestic price discrimination law. While
the Act was born in the antimonopolistic climate of the early Wilson
administration, 43 and although it bears structural similarities to the
body of domestic antitrust law' 44 and was apparently intended to supplement the existing provisions of the Clayton Act, 145 none of these
facts alone would be incompatible with the utilization of a more flexible product comparison standard. Indeed, given the diversity of consumer tastes, governmental regulations, and technical conventions
within the international marketplace, it is application of the rigorous
similarity requirement of Clayton 2 that would appear to be inconsistent with the remedial purpose of the 1916 Act. Neither the alternative
domestic regulations governing dumping nor the corresponding foreign
ones impose such a restrictive standard of comparability. 4 6 If the construction adopted by the district court is correct, the Antidumping Act
stands alone in its austerity.
The district court felt that it was impelled to its conclusion, however, by congressional observations that the Antidumping Act was intended to extend to foreign manufacturers "the same unfair
competition law which now applies" to domestic traders. 47 By making
these statements the cornerstone of its argument, the court revealed
that it interpreted the adjective "same" as meaning "identical," since
only this connotation would have given rise to the logical necessity of
grafting the legal standards of Clayton 2 onto the Antidumping Act.
142. See supra text accompanying notes 95-99.
143. See supra text accompanying notes 74-89.

144. See supra notes 90-93.
145. See the remarks by Secretary of Commerce William Redfield, supra notes 83 & 86
and accompanying text.
146. See supra text accompanying notes 45-59.

147. See the remarks of Representative Claude Kitchin, the sponsor of the Revenue Act,
supra note 97. The Report of the House Committee on Ways and Means noted similarly
that the Antidumping Act was intended to place foreign manufacturers "in the same position as our [domestic] manufacturers with reference to unfair competition." See supra note
96. For the purposes of the following argument, these two remarks will be treated as being
equivalent.
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This semantic assumption is the hidden premise of the court's argument and also its weakest link.
It should be remembered that, in considering the defendants' proposed interpretation of the phrase "such articles" in the text of the Antidumping Act, the district court focused closely upon the ordinary
meaning of the disputed words.148 The court rejected the defendants'
conflation of "such" and "identical" on the ground that the ordinary
meaning of the word "such" embraces a variety of nuances beyond
strict identity, including similarity. 149 It also cautioned against imputing any particular one of these nuances to the statutory text "except on
the basis of50a strong showing that Congress intended [the] specialized
meaning."'1
This admonition applies equally well to the district court's construction of Representative Kitchen's phrase "same unfair competition
law." 151 While "same" is often employed to mean "identical," it is just
as frequently and legitimately used to describe two dfferent objects
which share a number of common characteristics. In this recognized
sense of the word, "same" does not imply identity, but only the attribute of being "similar in kind, quality, quantity, or degree."' 52 Thus,
one lawyer might say to another, "We're wearing the same suit," but
mean by this only that the suits are similar in design, not in other respects such as size and color. Analogously, it might be said that two
statutes embody the same unfair competition law where both seek to
remedy similar evils, even though they differ at points in their precise
treatment of the related problems.
Facially, then, Representative Kitchen's reference to "the same
unfair competition law which now applies to the domestic trader" is
ambiguous. By one interpretation, this reference might be construed as
148. See supra text accompanying note 29. The court noted that "unless otherwise defined words will be interpreted as taking their ordinary, contemporary, common meaning."
494 F. Supp. at 1228 (quoting Perrin v. United States, 444 U.S. 37 (1979)).
149. See supra text accompanying note 29. See also 494 F. Supp. at 1227-31.
150. 494 F. Supp. at 1229.
151. See supra note 147 and accompanying text.
152. THE AMERICAN HERITAGE DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE 1147 (W.
Morris ed. 1969). The relevant portion of the definition reads as follows:
same... adj. 1. Being the very one; not different; identical. 2. Similar in kind,
quality, quantity, or degree; equivalent; corresponding. 3. Conforming absolutely;
unaltered, unchanged.
Id See also WEBSTER'S SECOND INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 2007 (W.A. Neilson ed.
1957) ("closely similar COMPARABLE"); BLACK'S LAw DICTIONARY 1203 (5th ed. 1979)
("The word 'same,'. . . does not always mean 'identical.'... It frequently means of the
kind or species, not the specific thing.").
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establishing a relationship of identity between the Antidumping Act
and domestic price discrimination law, an identity which would logically compel the restrictive conclusion of the district court. On the
other hand, it is equally plausible to interpret the Congressman's words
as merely drawing attention to the generic similarity between the two
statutes, to the fact that both address, albeit in different arenas, the
competitive evil of price discrimination. Under this latter reading, the
necessity of construing the 1916 Act and its domestic counterpart in
tandem would be eliminated. By overlooking this fundamental ambiguity, the district court effectively begged the central question of its
inquiry.
It is a standard canon of statutory interpretation that remedial legislation is to be liberally construed.153 In addition, any statute, remedial or not, should be interpreted so as to avoid absurd results.' 4 In
determining which of the foregoing meanings to impute to the statutory
text, these rules offer the guidance that the legislative history of the
Antidumping Act does not. The historical factors surrounding the
birth of the Antidumping Act clearly indicate that the statute was
designed to afford a remedy to domestic industries faced with the threat
of predatory foreign competition. 55 Given the legislative purpose underlying the 1916 Act, the construction imposed upon it by the district
court comes perilously close to achieving absurd results. On the one
hand, it produces a statutory scheme at odds with the vast majority of
administrative measures on the same subject. 156 On the other hand, it
renders the statute inapplicable, as a practical matter, to much of the
very problem that it was intended to ameliorate.' 57 Even if the court's
interpretation is not viewed as producing completely anomalous results, it is nonetheless a patently more restrictive and less liberal remedy than one which would not demand satisfaction of the stringent
similarity requirements of domestic price discrimination law. Since interpolation of the comparability standard of Clayton 2 is not logically
mandated-as the district court apparently believed that it was--common sense and sound construction suggest that this ground of the
court's holding be rejected.
153.
154.
155.
156.
157.

Tcherepnin v. Knight, 389 U.S. 332, 336 (1967).
United States v. American Trucking Ass'ns, 310 U.S. 534, 543 (1940).
See supra text accompanying notes 74-88.
See supra text accompanying notes 42-59.
See supra text accompanying notes 43-72.
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B. The Antidumping Act's Similarity to Customs Appraisement Law
As an alternative basis for its holding that the 1916 Antidumping
Act was inapplicable to the foreign-manufactured television sets in
question, the district court relied initially upon the fact that both the
Tariff Act of 1913 and the 1916 statute employ the phrase "actual market value"' in describing the appraisement standard of imported merchandise. Paragraph R of the 1913 Tariff Act defined the words
"actual market value" to mean the price at which "such... or similar
merchandise" is sold in the country of origin; 159 it also made this defi-

nition of "actual market value" applicable wherever these words were
6
used in a "law relating to the appraisement of imported" goods. 0
Since the Antidumping Act is generically an appraisement-related law,
and since it was explicitly characterized as such by the Emergency
Tariff Act of 1921,161 the district court concluded that it was intended
to incorporate the 1913 Act's definition of "actual market value," including that statute's reference to the price of "such. . or similar merchandise."' 62 Finally, since the term "foreign value" in the 1922 Tariff
Act was intended to carry over the statutory meaning of the words "actual market value" in earlier customs appraisement law, 63 the court
felt that it was justified in turning to judicial interpretations of the 1922
statute to discover the precise degree of similarity allowed under the
1913 law, and, by implication, under the 1916 Antidumping Act as
64
well.
Although it is clearly true that the Antidumping Act was intended
to incorporate the 1913 statute's definition of "actual market value," it
does not follow necessarily from this fact-as the district court apparently believed that it did-that Congress also meant the 1916 Act to
incorporate subsequent refinements of that definition in the specialized
context of customs appraisement law. From a literal standpoint, the
Antidumping Act assimilated only the definition of "actual market
value" in existence at the time of its passage in 1916; this definition, as
has been seen, specified merely that "actual market value" was to be
interpreted as meaning the price of "such.

. .

or similar merchandise"

in the country of production. More than a decade after the passage of
158.
159.
160.
161.
162.
163.
164.

See supra text accompanying notes 112-14.
See supra note 112 and accompanying text.
See supra note 116 and accompanying text.
See supra note 122 and accompanying text.
See supra note 124 and accompanying text.
See supra text accompanying notes 132-33.
See supra note 134 and accompanying text.
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the Antidumping Act, the words "such or similar merchandise" acquired in an altogether different context the specialized meaning of
"commercial interchangeability." This is not the meaning that the
words bore in customs appraisement law in 1916, however, nor the
meaning that Congress actually had before it in framing the Antidumping Act. Indeed, all that can conclusively be inferred from the implicit
incorporation of the phrase "such or similar merchandise" by Congress
in the 1916 Act is that these words were intended to bear whatever
established meaning they possessed in customs appraisement law at the
time.
If it is not deductively necessary to define similar merchandise in
terms of commercial interchangeability, neither is this conclusion required by force of analogy. It is a fundamental principle of legislative
construction that statutory provisions, even identical ones, are not to be
interpreted coextensively unless they are in par materia.165 Accordingly, if post-1916 customs-related refinements of the phrase "such or
similar merchandise" are to be grafted onto those words as they were
implicitly used in the Antidumping Act, it must first be established that
the 1916 statute is inparimateria with the corpus of customs appraisement law. This is not possible, however; the definitive characteristics of
statutes in pari materia are the possession of a common purpose and
subject matter. 166 Where statutes relate superficially to the same subject matter but are not linked by a common purpose, parallel interpretation is unwarranted. 67 Although it is true that the Antidumping Act
and the customs appraisement statutes discussed here both deal with
the topic of foreign imports, this affinity is only incidental; the statutes
are in fact motivated by entirely dissimilar goals. The purpose of the
Antidumping Act was to foster free trade by affording a private remedy
to domestic manufacturers injured by the sale of artificially low-priced
foreign goods; 68 as recognized by the district court, the Act was antitrust rather than protectionist in nature.' 69 The purpose of the 1922
Tariff Act, on the other hand, was primarily to raise revenue. 170 As a
secondary goal, the Act was also intended to curtail the free-trade poli165. See, e.g., United Shoe Workers of America v. Bedell, 506 F.2d 174, 188-90 (D.C.
Cir. 1974) (parallel construction denied where identical provisions appeared in statutes not
in parimateria).

166. See 2A
167.
168.
169.
170.

SUTHERLAND STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

§ 51.03, at 298 (4th ed. 1973).

Id See also United Shoe Workers of America v. Bedell, 506 F.2d at 188.
See supra text accompanying notes 74-93.
See supra note 89 and accompanying text.
J.W. Hampton, Jr. & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 394, 412-13 (1928).
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cies of the Wilson era and to reestablish the protective tariff.' In light
of this divergence of legislative aims, it would be inappropriate to interpret the Antidumping Act and the 1922 Tariff Act analogously even if
such a reading did not entail the restrictive consequences that it does.
Since interpolation of the comparability standard of customs appraise17 2
ment law clearly does thwart the underlying policy of the 1916 Act,
however, a construction by analogy is especially unwarranted.
VI. CONCLUSION
The constricted interpretation of the 1916 Antidumping Act
adopted by the district court in Zenith results in a substantial evisceration of the statute. The court's holding is both anomalous from the
perspective of existing antidumping law and renders the 1916 Act inapplicable to much of the very problem that it was intended to ameliorate. Since the court's interpretation is neither logically compelled nor
supported by sound principles of statutory construction, it should be
rejected in favor of a more flexible standard to govern product comparisons under the Antidumping Act.

171. I1d at 412. See also 494 F. Supp. at 1212, 1218-19.
172. See supra text accompanying notes 60-72.
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